IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 19-0551

Black Hawk County No. AGCR 225149, FECR 225935, FECR 227264

STATE OF IOWA
Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

CHRISTOPHER LEE ROBY, JR
Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY
Honorable ALAN HEAVENS, District Court Judge
Honorable KELLYANN M LEKAR, Chief District Court Judge
First Judicial District

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Marti D. Nerenstone
AT0005818
Park Building
500 Willow Avenue, Suite 212
Council Bluffs, Iowa 51503
(712) 328-2283 (phone)
(712) 322-1118 (fax)
nerenstonelaw@qwestoffice.net

Attorney for Christopher Roby

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. WHETHER THE ELUDING WARRANT AND SUBSEQUENT CHARGE CONSTITUTE UNCONSTITUTIONAL DOUBLE JEOPARDY RENDERING EVERYTHING THAT FLOW FROM THEM UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution
Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution
Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution
Article 1, Section 12 of the Iowa Constitution
Everett v State, 789 NW2d 151, 155 (Iowa 2010)
State v Fox, 858 NW2d 36 (Table) 2014 WL 5243365 (Iowa Ct App 2014)
State v Gines, 844 NW2d 437 (Iowa 2014)
State v Meyer, 705 NW2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v Powell, 684 NW2d 235 (Iowa 2004)
State v Trainer, 762 NW2d 155 (Iowa 2008)
Strickland v Washington, 466 US 668 (1984)
Iowa Code §321.277
Iowa Code §321.279
Iowa Code §321.285
Iowa Code §816.1

- B. WHETHER THE ARREST OF CHRISTOPHER ROBY ON MAY 31, 2018 WAS BASED ON AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL WARRANT, RENDERING ANY SEARCH WARRANT OR CHARGE SUBSEQUENT TO THAT ARREST INVALID

Fourth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution
Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution
Eighth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution
Article I, Section 8 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution
Article 1, Section 12 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 17 of the Iowa Constitution
Everett v State, 789 NW2d 151 (Iowa 2010)
State v Gines, 844 NW2d 437 (Iowa 2014)
State v Meyer, 705 NW2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v Powell, 684 NW2d 235 (Iowa 2004)
Strickland v Washington, 466 US 668(1984)
Iowa Code §816.1
B. John Burns, *Iowa Practice: Criminal Procedure* (2019)
Blacks Law Dictionary (West 5th ed)

Uniform Bond Schedule

C. WHETHER A FACTUAL BASIS DOES NOT EXIST FOR CHRISTOPHER ROBY TO PLEAD TO POSSESSION WITH INTENT TO DELIVER

Fourth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution
Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution
Article I, Section 8 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution
Everett v State, 789 NW2d 151 (Iowa 2010)
State v Atkinson, 620 NW2d 1 (Iowa 2000)
State v Bash, 670 NW2d 135 (Iowa 2003)
State v Brooks, 555 NW2d 446 (Iowa 1996)
State v Doggett, 687 NW2d 97 (Iowa 2004)
State v Gines, 844 NW2d 437 (Iowa 2014)
State v Henderson, 696 NW2d 5 (Iowa 2005)
State v Jorgensen, 758 NW2d 830 (Iowa 2008)
State v McDowell, 622 NW2d 305 (Iowa 2001)
State v Meyer, 705 NW2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v Powell, 684 NW2d 235 (Iowa 2004)
State v Reeves, 209 NW2d 18 (Iowa 1973)
State v Webb, 648 NW2d 72 (Iowa 2002)
Strickland v Washington, 466 US 668 (1984)
Iowa Code §124.401(1)

D. WHETHER NONE OF CHRISTOPHER ROBY'S PLEAS WERE KNOWING OR VOLUNTARY

Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution
Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution
Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution
Everett v State, 789 NW2d 151 (Iowa 2010)
State v Gines, 844 NW2d 437 (Iowa 2014)
State v Meyer, 705 NW2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v Powell, 684 NW2d 235 (Iowa 2004)
Strickland v Washington, 466 US 668 (1984)

1. Whether the plea to the eluding charge was facially and factually inaccurate

Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution
Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution

Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution
Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution
Everett v State, 789 NW2d 151 (Iowa 2010)
State v Henderson, 696 NW2d 5 (Iowa 2005)
State v Jorgensen, 758 NW2d 830 (Iowa 2008)
State v Meyer, 705 NW2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v Powell, 684 NW2d 235 (Iowa 2004)
State v Webb, 648 NW2d 72 (Iowa 2002)

2. Whether Christopher Roby was not provided with adequate information regarding the sentencing consequences of pleading to a sexual offense

Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution
Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution
Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution
Everett v State, 789 NW2d 151 (Iowa 2010)
State v Meyer, 705 NW2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v Powell, 684 NW2d 235 (Iowa 2004)
Iowa Code §813.2
Iowa Code §903B.1
Iowa R Crim P 2.8(2)(b)(2)

3. Whether Christopher Roby was not provided with adequate information regarding potential ramifications of his guilty pleas to his pending federal indictment

Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution
Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution
Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution
Everett v State, 789 NW2d 151 (Iowa 2010)
State v Meyer, 705 NW2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v Powell, 684 NW2d 235 (Iowa 2004)
US v Funchess, 422 F3d 698 (8th Cir 2005)
US v Golden, 669 F3d 901 (8th Cir 2012)
US v Young, 960 F Supp 881 (ND Iowa 2013)
21 USC §851
USSG §4A1.2

D. WHETHER DEFENSE COUNSEL PERFORMANCE WAS SO DEFICIENT AS TO CAUSE STRUCTURAL ERROR

Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution
Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution
Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution
Arizona v Fulminante, 499 US 279 (1991)
Everett v State, 789 NW2d 151 (Iowa 2010)
Lado v State, 804 NW2d 248 (Iowa 2011)
State v Feregrino, 756 NW2d 700 (Iowa 2008)
State v Kress, 636 NW2d 12 (Iowa 2001)
State v Meyer, 705 NW2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v Powell, 684 NW2d 235 (Iowa 2004)
United States v Chronic, 466 US 648 (1984)
Iowa R. Crim P. 2.8(2)(b)

E. WHETHER EVEN IF DEFENSE COUNSEL PERFORMANCE WAS NOT SO DEFICIENT AS TO CAUSE STRUCTURAL ERROR, IT WAS SO DEFICIENT TO CONSIST OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution
Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution
Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution
Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution
Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution
Everett v State, 789 NW2d 151 (Iowa 2010)
Lado v State, 804 NW2d 248 (Iowa 2011)
Nguyen v. State, 707 NW2d 317 (Iowa 2005)
State v Gines, 844 NW2d 437 (Iowa 2014)
State v Meyer, 705 NW2d 676 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)
State v Powell, 684 NW2d 235 (Iowa 2004)
Strickland v Washington, 466 US 668(1984)

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

Appellant believes that, in accordance with Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2), this case should be retained by the supreme court. This case presents constitutional and statutory issues which appear to be of first impression, presents fundamental issues of broad public importance requiring ultimate determination by the

supreme court, and presents substantial questions of enunciating legal principles.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the sentences issued against Christopher Roby, on March 28, 2019. (App. 55-58, 119-122, 181-184, 186-212). A *pro se* notice to rescind plea was filed on April 2, 2019. (App. 185). Notice of Appeal was timely filed on April 4, 2019. (App. 13-14, 67-68, 131-132).

This case involves the failure to provide redress to Christopher Roby contrary to his rights under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth and Eighth Amendments, and the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, Article I, Sections 8, 9, 10, 12 and 17 of the Iowa Constitution, applicable case law and statutory provisions, especially including the double jeopardy provisions of Iowa Code Chapter 816.

On October 23, 2017, Christopher Roby was stopped, arrested and ultimately released from custody. He was charged with eluding, interference with official acts, no driver's license, reckless driving and speeding. (App. 28-33). In November 2017, he pled to the charges of no driver's license (State v Roby, Black Hawk County No. STA 0163248), speeding (State v Roby, Black Hawk County No. STA 0163250), and reckless driving (State v Roby, Black Hawk County No. NTA 0163249). The remaining charges were

apparently not pursued.

Over six months later, based on the same speeding event/ticket, to which he had already been convicted, a Trial Information was filed on June 5, 2018, (App. 34-35), charging Christopher Roby with eluding-speed over 25 over limit, in violation of Iowa Code §321.279(2), an aggravated misdemeanor. That case is entitled State v Christopher Roby, Black Hawk County AGCR 225149. A criminal complaint, consisting of the October 2017 police report, had been filed on May 23, 2018 (App. 16-18). Pursuant to that complaint, an arrest warrant was issued for Christopher Roby. (App. 16-18).

Minutes of testimony were also filed on June 5, 2018, containing the old police reports. (App. 26-37). A discovery request was filed on June 6, 2018 (App. 38-39), and a discovery order was filed the same day. (App. 40-41). It does not appear from the court file that any discovery was actually conducted.

The charge is an aggravated misdemeanor, for which the uniform bond schedule sets bail at \$2,000. (App.42). In this case, for some unknown reason, bail was set in the amount of \$50,000, cash only, which is twenty-five (25) times the scheduled amount. (App. 16-18). Only after Mr Roby filed a *pro se* motion for a bond reduction (App. 43), was a five-minute hearing set, (App. 44-46), and the bond was reduced to \$5,000, cash or surety, still 2 ½ times the scheduled amount. (App. 47-48).

Waiver of speedy trial was filed July 27, 2018. (App. 49). A written guilty plea was ultimately signed on March 28, 2019 and filed the next day. (App. 50-54). It recites a completely incorrect offense date. (App. 50). It pleads to the full charge, and agrees to two years in prison, to run concurrent with sentences in two felony cases, FECR 227264 and FECR 225935. (App. 51).

Because of the questionable eluding warrant, surveillance was conducted on the apartment of Christopher Roby's alleged girlfriend. (App. 71,88,95,97). On May 31, 2018, Mr Roby was apprehended. (App. 88,95,97).

A search warrant was requested the day Mr Roby was arrested, based on officer's assertion that "a fresh green odor of marijuana" could be smelled on Roby's person. (App. 71). Despite the fact that Mr Roby was pulled out of his friend's vehicle, the search warrant was requested, and granted, for his friend's vehicle, the vehicle's garage and his friend's apartment. (App. 69-73). Substances were seized, which weighed less than 33 grams combined. (App. 102). Local law enforcement identified the substances as marijuana. (App. 97, 102). There is no clear documentation that any of the substances seized actually tested positive for marijuana. Despite the lack of evidence of an actual illegal drug, as well as the minimal amount of substance, and despite the fact that all of the substances

seized were found in his friend's apartment, a criminal complaint was filed on July 11, 2018, naming Christopher Roby as the offender for a controlled substance violation. (App. 78-79).

On August 16, 2018, a trial information was filed (App.83-84), charging Christopher Roby with possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver, to-wit: marijuana, in violation of Iowa Code §124.401(1)(d), a "D" felony. That case is entitled State v Christopher Roby, Black Hawk County FECR 225935. Minutes of testimony were also filed on August 16, 2018 (App. 85-109). Within those minutes are multiple police incident reports, including one which only indicates a charge of possession of marijuana. (App. 90). A discovery request was filed August 22, (App. 110-111), and a discovery order was filed the same day. (App. 112-113). It does not appear from the court file that any discovery was actually conducted. Waiver of speedy trial was filed October 22, 2018. (App. 114). Additional minutes were filed on October 23, 2018. (App. 115-118).

On August 30, 2018, Allen Memorial Hospital in Waterloo notified Iowa DHS and ultimately law enforcement, that they had a 13 year old patient who was 8 weeks pregnant. (App. 154-155, 168-170). The juvenile reported that she began having sexual encounters when she was twelve. (App. 172). She reported liking "older men" (App. 172), although claimed that she had recently had consensual sex with a 14 year old. (App. 170). She also

claimed that she had consensual sex with Christopher Roby, and she believed that he impregnated her. (App. 133-134,174). A criminal complaint was filed on September 26, 2018. (App. 133-134).

By Trial Information filed on October 5, 2018 (App. 143-144), Christopher Roby was charged with sexual abuse in the third degree, in violation of Iowa Code §709.4(b)(2), a "C" felony. (App. 143-144). That case is entitled State v Christopher Roby, Black Hawk County FECR 227264. A criminal complaint had been filed on September 26, 2018. (App. 133-134). A discovery request was filed September 28, (App. 138-139), and a discovery order was filed the same day. (App. 140-141). It does not appear from the court file that any discovery was actually conducted. A pre-trial release report was filed on October 3, 2018 (App. 142) and an order was filed the next day, re-iterating the denial of bond previously set on September 27, 2018. (App. 135-137). Minutes of testimony were filed on October 5, 2018. (App. 145-179). Waiver of speedy trial was filed December 7, 2018. (App. 180).

On March 28, 2019, Christopher pled guilty to the charge of possession with intent to deliver as alleged in FECR 225935, and to the charge of sexual abuse in the third degree, as alleged in FECR 227264. (App. 188-189, 199-200). There was no recitation of the factual basis in either case, but merely a reference to

the trial information and minutes of testimony in each case. (App. 193-194).

Christopher Roby was found guilty of both offenses and sentenced to five and ten years, respectively, to run concurrently with each other, and with the misdemeanor eluding case. (App. 119-122, 181-184, 207-208).

It is clear that Mr Roby's defense attorney knew that he had a pending federal indictment, but no attempt was made to explain the potential ramifications his plea might have on those charges. (App. 195-196). Furthermore, although there as a passing reference to having to be on parole for the rest of his life, there was no explanation of what that means, or the possible consequences of revocation of that parole. (App. 183, 206).

A *pro se* notice to rescind plea was filed on April 2, 2019. (App. 185). Notice of Appeal was timely filed on April 4, 2019. (App. 131-132).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 23, 2017, Christopher Roby was stopped, arrested and ultimately released from custody. He was charged with eluding, interference with official acts, no driver's license, reckless driving and speeding. (App. 28-33). In November 2017, he pled to the charges of no driver's license (State v Roby, Black Hawk County No. STA 0163248), speeding (State v Roby, Black Hawk County No. STA 0163250), and reckless driving (State v Roby,

Black Hawk County No. NTA 0163249).

Over six months later, based on the same speeding event/ticket, to which he had already been convicted, a Trial Information was filed on June 5, 2018, (App. 24-25), charging Christopher Roby with eluding-speed over 25 over limit, in violation of Iowa Code §321.279(2), an aggravated misdemeanor. That case is entitled State v Christopher Roby, Black Hawk County AGCR 225149.

Because of the questionable eluding warrant, surveillance was conducted on the apartment of Christopher Roby's alleged girlfriend. (App. 71,88,95,97). On May 31, 2018, Mr Roby was apprehended. (App. 88,95,97).

A search warrant was requested the day Mr Roby was arrested, based on officer's assertion that "a fresh green odor of marijuana" could be smelled on Roby's person. (App. 71). Despite the fact that Mr Roby was pulled out of his friend's vehicle, the search warrant was requested, and granted, for his friend's vehicle, the vehicle's garage and his friend's apartment. (App. 69-73). Substances were seized, which weighed less than 33 grams combined. (App. 102). Local law enforcement identified the substances as marijuana. (App. 97-102). There is no clear documentation that any of the substances seized actually tested positive for marijuana. Despite the lack of evidence of an actual illegal drug, as well as the minimal amount of

substance, and despite the fact that all of the substances seized were found in his friend's apartment, a criminal complaint was filed on July 11, 2018, naming Christopher Roby as the offender for a controlled substance violation. (App. 78-79).

On August 16, 2018, a trial information was filed (App. 83-84), charging Christopher Roby with possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver, to-wit: marijuana, in violation of Iowa Code §124.401(1)(d), a "D" felony. That case is entitled State v Christopher Roby, Black Hawk County FECR 225935.

On August 30, 2018, Allen Memorial Hospital in Waterloo notified Iowa DHS and ultimately law enforcement, that they had a 13 year old patient who was 8 weeks pregnant. (App. 154-155,168-170). The juvenile reported that she began having sexual encounters when she was twelve. (App. 172). She reported liking "older men" (App. 172), although claimed that she had recently had consensual sex with a 14 year old. (App. 170). She also claimed that she had consensual sex with Christopher Roby, and she believed that he impregnated her. (App. 133-134, 174). A criminal complaint was filed on September 26, 2018. (App. 133-134).

By Trial Information filed on October 5, 2018 (App. 143-144), Christopher Roby was charged with sexual abuse in the third degree, in violation of Iowa Code §709.4(b)(2), a "C" felony. (App. 143-144). That case is entitled State v Christopher Roby,

Black Hawk County FECR 227264.

V. ARGUMENT

There are multiple errors in this case, implicating errors at law, abuse of discretion, and constitutional issues. As a result of these errors, prejudice to Christopher Roby has resulted.

The actions by the state in obtaining a warrant to pursue an eluding charge more than six months after Christopher Roby pled to a lesser included offense, constituted double jeopardy in violation of Iowa Code §816.1, as well as in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the US Constitution, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution, and Article I, section 12 of the Iowa Constitution. It also constituted a violation of probable cause required under the Fourth Amendment to the US Constitution and Article I, Section 8 of the Iowa constitution.

The bail imposed on Mr Roby for the eluding charge was unconstitutionally excessive, contrary to the Eighth Amendment to the US Constitution and Article I, Section 17 of the Iowa Constitution.

The actions by the trial court in taking the eluding plea and imposing a sentence should be considered as a retrial and constitutes double jeopardy, in violation of Iowa Code §816.1, as well as in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the US

Constitution, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution, and Article I, section 12 of the Iowa Constitution.

Constitutional issues also arise in the wake of the failure of the trial court, when it allowed pleas to offenses for which factual basis do not exist. These failures of the trial court implicate due process rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the US Constitution, and Article I, Section 9 of the Iowa Constitution.

The failure of the trial court to engage in a proper colloquy, and fully explain the ramifications of special sentence parole under Iowa Code Chapter 903B, and especially, the mandatory terms of revocation for parole violation set out in Iowa Code §903B.1, is also a violation of Christopher Roby's due process rights in violation of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the US Constitution, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution, and Article I, sections 9 and 10 of the Iowa Constitution.

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