## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19–0551

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

CHRISTOPHER LEE ROBY, JR., Defendant-Appellant.

## APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE ALAN HEAVENS, JUDGE

#### **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

#### LOUIS S. SLOVEN

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

BRIAN WILLIAMS Black Hawk County Attorney

ELIZABETH O'DONNELL & YESHIMEBET ABEBE Assistant Black Hawk County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

**FINAL** 

##

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. This Court should not resolve any of Roby's claims.Preservation of Error

Roby was advised that he needed to file a motion in arrest of judgment to preserve his opportunity to raise any challenge to his guilty pleas, and he affirmatively waived his opportunity to do so. *See* Plea/Sent.Tr. 17:9–19:18. Roby does not challenge this advisory, and does not make any attempt to show error was preserved for any challenge raised in his brief. This matters because "[a] defendant's failure to challenge the adequacy of a guilty plea proceeding by motion in arrest of judgment shall preclude the defendant's right to assert such challenge on appeal." *See* Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(3)(a).

Until recently, defendants in this situation could simply convert all of their claims on direct appeal into ineffective-assistance claims and present them within that paradigm. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Straw*, 709 N.W.2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2006) (explaining that "this failure does not bar a challenge to a guilty plea if the failure to file a motion in arrest of judgment resulted from ineffective assistance of counsel"). But the amendment to section 814.7 directs Iowa courts to preserve claims of ineffective assistance of counsel for PCR actions, so Roby's decision to waive his ability to challenge his pleas on appeal has consequences.

#### Standard of Review

There is no standard of review for an unpreserved claim because there is nothing to review. Ineffective-assistance claims would be reviewed de novo. *See State v. Finney*, 834 N.W.2d 46, 49 (Iowa 2013); *Straw*, 709 N.W.2d at 133. But this preliminary section is about the effects of recent legislative enactments. A ruling on these arguments would be reviewed for correction of errors at law. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Coleman*, 907 N.W.2d 124, 134 (Iowa 2018) (citing *State v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 889 N.W.2d 467, 470 (Iowa 2017)).

#### **Merits**

SF 589 did not specify its effective date, which means that it becomes effective on July 1, 2019. *See* Iowa Code § 3.7(1). That will include the amendment to section 814.7 that effectively preserves all ineffective-assistance claims for post-conviction proceedings, and it will also include the amendment to section 814.6(1) that creates a "good cause" requirement for direct appeals from guilty pleas.

The only question is whether these provisions will apply to appeals that are already pending when the amendments take effect on July 1, 2019. In the State's view, for both provisions, the answer is yes: both will apply to all cases pending on direct appeal as of July 1, 2019.

A. This amendment to section 814.7 is procedural, as it sets out a specific procedure for raising these ineffective-assistance claims. It is also remedial, under *Hannan*. Thus, it applies to cases pending on direct appeal when it takes effect.

Section 31 of SF 589 amends section 814.7 to specify that claims alleging ineffective assistance of counsel "shall not be decided on direct appeal from the criminal proceedings," and shall be brought in postconviction actions instead. See S.F. 589, 88th GA, § 31 (2019). Generally, "[i]f a procedural statute is amended, the rule is that the amendment applies to pending proceedings as well as those instituted after the amendment." See Smith v. Korf, Diehl, Clayton and Cleverly, 302 N.W.2d 137, 138–39 (Iowa 1981) (quoting comment to Uniform Statutory Construction Act, now codified in Iowa Code section 4.5).

A procedural statute "prescribes a method of enforcing rights or obtaining redress for their invasion." *See Dolezal v. Bockes*, 602 N.W.2d 348, 351 (Iowa 1999). Substantive legislation is presumed to apply retroactively, but "procedural legislation applies to all actions—those that have accrued or are pending and future actions." *See id*.

When section 814.7 was first enacted, the Iowa Supreme Court found it applied retrospectively because it was procedural—it changed applicable procedural rules without creating/extinguishing any claim:

... [Section 814.7] is a statute describing the procedure to bring a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Thus, we are not required to determine what "time the judgment or order appealed from was rendered" because we do not believe this rule applies to section 814.7.

. . . Section 814.7 governs the methods by which a defendant may assert a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *See* Iowa Code § 814.7. As such, it "prescribes a method of enforcing rights or obtaining redress for their invasion." [*Dolezal*, 602 N.W.2d at 351]. Moreover, section 814.7 does not affect the substantive rights of parties, but rather "governs the practice, method, procedure, or legal machinery by which the substantive law is enforced or made effective." *Bd. of Trs. v. City of W. Des Moines*, 587 N.W.2d 227, 231 (Iowa 1998). This indicates section 814.7 is procedural and may be applied retroactively.

 $[\ldots]$ 

Section 814.7 remedies the evil that occurs when litigants must raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims without an adequate record. Thus, the statute attempts to conserve judicial resources and place the defendant's claim in the court that is most informed to handle it. . . . As a result, we think the legislature's attempt to fix a procedural wrong evinces an intent to make the statute retroactive. *See Bd. of Trs.*, 587 N.W.2d at 231–32. Accordingly, Hannan's claim is properly before us under section 814.7.

Hannan v. State, 732 N.W.2d 45, 50–51 (Iowa 2007). That same analysis that classified section 814.7 as procedural and retrospective when first enacted applies with equal force to this amendment, which also prescribes a procedure for asserting and deciding ineffective-assistance claims. See id.; accord S.F. 589, 88th GA, § 31 (preserving the portion of section 814.7 that states: "[a]n ineffective assistance of

counsel claim in a criminal case shall be determined by filing an application for postconviction relief pursuant to chapter 822"). There is no difference between the amendment to section 814.7 and its original enactment, for the purpose of deciding whether either applies to pending cases. As a result, the legislature would have known that it was amending a procedural statute that applied to pending cases on the effective date of its enactment—and would presumably apply to all pending cases when it was amended, as well. See State v. Johnson, 784 N.W.2d 192, 197 (Iowa 2010) ("We have held section 814.7 applies retroactively to all criminal cases."); State v. Freeman, 705 N.W.2d 286, 291 (Iowa 2005) (quoting Jahnke v. City of Des Moines, 191 N.W.2d 780, 787 (Iowa 1971)) ("[W]hen the legislature enacts a law, '[w]e assume the legislature knew the existing state of the law and prior judicial interpretations of similar statutory provisions.").

Applying the amendment to section 814.7 in this way will not result in forfeiture of any claims. Roby will still be able to bring his ineffective-assistance claims in a PCR action, where he will have a chance to develop a factual record that might support them. That, more than anything else, illustrates that this amendment is wholly procedural in nature: it does not create or extinguish any claim.

To the extent this amendment to section 814.7 is anything other than procedural, it is remedial—just like the original enactment, it "remedies the evil that occurs" when appellate courts are faced with "ineffective assistance of counsel claims without an adequate record" on direct appeal. See Hannan, 732 N.W.2d at 51; accord State v. McFarland, No. 17-0871, 2018 WL 2084835, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. May 2, 2018) (urging the parties to develop a factual record for these claims in postconviction proceedings). Ineffective-assistance claims in appeals filed before the effective date of this provision are identical to claims raised in appeals filed after that date, with respect to this particular evil to be remedied. That undermines any argument that section 814.7 should only apply to ineffective-assistance claims in appeals that were filed after its effective date. All unpreserved claims are plagued by similar deficiencies and present similar problems, and so this remedy should be applied to all of them. See City of Waterloo v. Bainbridge, 749 N.W.2d 245, 251 (Iowa 2008) (holding statute was remedial and retroactive when "the evil to be remedied is the existence of unsafe abandoned buildings," and "[a] building abandoned before the effective date of the statute creates the same unsafe condition as a building abandoned after the effective date of the statute").

This amendment to section 814.7 is qualitatively different from amendments to section 814.6 that affect the availability of an appeal, discussed in the next section. See S.F. 589, 88th GA, § 28 (2019). That analysis starts with recognizing the Iowa Supreme Court's view that, when it comes to changes that affect the existence of a right of appeal, "statutes controlling appeals are those that were in effect at the time the judgment or order appealed from was rendered." See Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Caselman, 657 N.W.2d 493, 498 (Iowa 2003) (quoting Ontjes v. McNider, 275 N.W. 328, 330 (Iowa 1937)). But that rule does not apply to this statute "describing the procedure to bring a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel." See Hannan, 732 N.W.2d at 50-51. Indeed, Hannan specifically rejected that argument against applying section 814.7 to appeals that were already pending. See id. (quoting Wal-Mart Stores, 657 N.W.2d at 498). Even if this Court applied that Wal-Mart approach to the amendments to section 814.6, Hannan renders that rule inapplicable to this amendment to section 814.7, which only "governs the methods by which a defendant may assert a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel." Id. at 51; accord Dolezal, 602 N.W.2d at 351; Smith, 302 N.W.2d at 138-39. Because Hannan is directly on point, this Court should apply section 814.7 as amended.

B. The amendment to section 814.6(1) reroutes the review of a conviction obtained after a guilty plea. There is "good cause" for appeals raising claims that cannot be rerouted or brought elsewhere, so those appeals may still be brought. The effect on all other appeals is purely procedural.

Section 28 of SF 589 amends Iowa Code section 814.6 to include new subsections, stating that a defendant is not granted right of appeal from a final judgment of sentence in the following cases:

- (1) A simple misdemeanor conviction
- (2) An ordinance violation.
- (3) A conviction where the defendant has pled guilty. This subparagraph does not apply to a guilty plea for a class "A" felony or in a case where the defendant establishes good cause.

See S.F. 589, 88th GA, § 28 (2019). Items (1) and (2) are not new. See Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a) (2018). Roby's convictions were all imposed based on guilty pleas, so amended section 814.6(1)(a)(3) would apply. This Court should construe "good cause" to mean that a defendant may still appeal if dismissing their appeal would leave them without any alternative route to equivalent review of a claim they have raised. This will avoid any potential constitutional infirmity that may exist. See, e.g., State v. Nail, 743 N.W.2d 535, 540 (Iowa 2007). The effect of this amendment on all remaining appeals will be to reroute them, rather than foreclose the claims—and that effect is procedural.

Some Iowa cases hold that Iowa courts should apply statutes controlling the existence of the right of appeal "that were in effect at the time the judgment or order appealed from was rendered." See James v. State; 479 N.W.2d 287, 290 (Iowa 1991); see also Wal-Mart Stores, 657 N.W.2d at 498 (quoting Ontjes, 275 N.W. at 330). But the foundational Iowa case in this area is *Ontjes*, which recognized that legislation defining availability of appeals "goes to our jurisdiction to consider or decide the questions presented in the appeal." See Ontjes, 275 N.W. at 330. Without jurisdiction and authority, no decision can be rendered—so while it may be correct to determine whether a right of appeal existed when the appeal was first initiated, this Court must also refrain from resolving claims if its authority to hear the case has since been stripped away by intervening legislation.

It is clear, that when the jurisdiction of a cause depends upon a statute the repeal of the statute takes away the jurisdiction. And it is equally clear, that where a jurisdiction, conferred by statute, is prohibited by a subsequent statute, the prohibition is, so far, a repeal of the statute conferring the jurisdiction.

Bruner v. United States, 343 U.S. 112, 116 (1952) (quoting Merchants' Ins. Co. v. Ritchie, 72 U.S. 541, 544 (1866)); see also Landgraf v. USI Film Products, 511 U.S. 244, 274 (1994) (explaining that courts "have regularly applied intervening statutes conferring or ousting jurisdiction,

whether or not jurisdiction lay when the underlying conduct occurred or when the suit was filed"). This makes sense, because statutes that re-allocate jurisdiction or authority among courts are more procedural than substantive: such statutes usually do not "impair rights a party possessed when he acted, increase a party's liability for past conduct, or impose new duties with respect to transactions already completed." See Press-Citizen Co., Inc. v. University of Iowa, 817 N.W.2d 480, 491 (Iowa 2012) (quoting Landgraf, 511 U.S. at 280). More importantly, an appellate court must have jurisdiction and authority to rule—and without either, it cannot rule on the case. See In re Estate of Falck, 672 N.W.2d 785, 790 (Iowa 2003) (citing Christie v. Rolscreen Co., 448 N.W.2d 447, 450 (Iowa 1989)) (explaining that, like a challenge to subject-matter jurisdiction, parties can "raise the court's authority to hear a particular case at any time during the proceeding").

These amendments to section 814.6 strip appellate courts of authority to hear these appeals from guilty pleas unless the defendant establishes "good cause." Jurisdiction and authority are conceptually distinct—unlike a lack of subject matter jurisdiction, "an impediment to a court's *authority* can be obviated by consent, waiver, or estoppel" and any judgments entered without authority are voidable, not void.

Id. (quoting State v. Mandicino, 509 N.W.2d 481, 483 (Iowa 1993)). But the point remains that the appellate court needs authority over the appeal in order to rule on it; once these amendments take effect, Iowa appellate courts will lack authority to rule on direct appeals from guilty pleas where defendants fail to establish "good cause," even if that appeal was initiated before the amendments took effect. See Schrier v. State, 573 N.W.2d 242, 244–45 (Iowa 1997) ("A court lacks authority to hear a particular case where a party fails to follow the statutory procedures for invoking the court's authority."). Because this Court needs present authority to rule on this appeal, and because the amendments to section 814.6 strip this Court of that authority as of the July 1, 2019, they necessarily apply to pending appeals.

Because applying the amendments to section 814.6 would mean that Roby no longer has a right to appeal, it is tempting to view them as substantive. But there are two reasons to view them as procedural and presumptively applicable to pending cases. First, "[a]pplication of a new jurisdictional rule usually 'takes away no substantive right but simply changes the tribunal that is to hear the case." *See Landgraf*, 511 U.S. at 274 (quoting *Hallowell v. Commons*, 239 U.S. 506, 508 (1916)). "No one has a vested right in any given mode of procedure."

Ex parte Collett, 337 U.S. 55, 71 (1949) (quoting Crane v. Hahlo, 258 U.S. 142, 147 (1922)). Just like in Hannan, this statute attempts to "conserve judicial resources and place the defendant's claim in the court that is most informed to handle it," rather than extinguish it.

See Hannan, 732 N.W.2d at 51. Like almost any other reallocation of jurisdiction or authority, this is a matter of procedure—and thus, it presumptively applies to pending cases when it takes effect because "the legislature's attempt to fix a procedural wrong evinces an intent to make the statute retroactive." See id.

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